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No UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING.


Tuesday, April 7, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


The Board is sitting this morning to hear preliminary issues in application EB-2014-0363, which is an application brought by TransAlta Corporation, TransAlta Generation Partnership, and TransAlta Cogeneration LP, requesting that the Ontario Energy Board determine whether it has jurisdiction to deal with the daily contract quantity obligations under its T1/T2 contract with Union Gas.


Sitting with me today is Marika Hare.  My name is Cathy Spoel.


Before we get to specific questions, could I have appearances, please.

Appearances:

MS. DeMARCO:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I'm Elizabeth DeMarco on behalf of -- here on behalf of TransAlta.  With me is my colleague, Joanna Kyriazis, as well as counsel from TransAlta, Laura-Marie Berg.


MS. SPOEL:  Good morning, Ms. DeMarco.


MR. SMITH:  Good morning, members of the Board.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I appear here as counsel to Union Gas.  With me from Union Gas to my left is Mark Kitchen and to my right Chris Ripley and Carly Shaw.


MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.


MS. HELT:  Good morning, Madam Chair, my name is Maureen Helt.  I am counsel with the Board, and with me I have Lawrie Gluck, who is the case manager on this matter.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.


MS. SPOEL:  Good morning, Mr. Mondrow.


Before we start are there any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:

MS. HELT:  I believe, Madam Chair, that there was one matter that Ms. DeMarco wanted to address the panel with respect to.


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Last night we received the written submissions of Union Gas, and specifically paragraphs 12 to 14 of those submissions are giving us some cause for concern.


As you stated, Madam Chair, the parties are here today on an application for the determination of certain preliminary issues related to the Board jurisdiction to hear matters pertaining to a T1/T2 contract held by TransAlta with Union and a broader sector-wide issue.  We are not here today to determine the substance or the merits of the complaint of that application at this point of time.


As outlined in paragraphs 12 through 14, Union's submission clearly deal with the merits and substance of the complaint, and TransAlta would, therefore, ask that those paragraphs be struck from the record.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Smith, do you have anything to say on this issue?


MR. SMITH:  Well, Madam Chair, I do.  The submission is surprising for at least the following three reasons.  The first, on any question of jurisdiction I think it is important that the Board understand what is at issue and what is not at issue, and in that respect I think it is important for the Board to appreciate Union's perspective on the nature of the dispute.  So in my submission, it's relevant and helpful from that perspective.


Second, the submission is directly responsive to my friend's own position.  This application was kicked off by letter from TransAlta's counsel back on December 3rd, 2014, and if you have that letter -- and I'm sure my friend will be referring to it -- but if you have that letter, under page 2, "background", section (a), "T1/T2 contract", TransAlta sets out, in no uncertain terms, its position.


It refers to, in the paragraph, schedule 1.  It then refers to the definition of daily contract quantity under Union's general terms and conditions.  It sets out that definition.  It then refers to certain other provisions and then concludes "accordingly the definition requires" and then it articulates what TransAlta's position is.


So in that context I think it is more than fair for Union to set out its own position with respect to the proper interpretation of the contract.


The third matter is, there can be no issue of prejudice.  Union's position is hardly a surprise.  Indeed, the position articulated in paragraphs 12 and 14 is nothing more than a summary of positions that have been articulated by Union as far back as March of last year in correspondence with TransAlta, and that correspondence is similarly attached to my friend Ms. DeMarco's letter.


So in terms of the prejudice, there can be none.  Union's obviously not asking for the Board to make any decision, but I think it is perfectly appropriate for the Board to understand the parties' perspectives when it is considering the preliminary issue.


MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Helt, do you have anything?


MS. HELT:  Yes, I would just concur with the submission of Mr. Smith.  I do not think that there is anything prejudicial with respect to including these particular paragraphs.


The nature of the content of the paragraphs have been referred to in previous correspondence that has been exchanged between the parties, and I also think that it is helpful, as Mr. Smith has pointed out, that when you are trying to determine a jurisdictional issue, having the background of the nature of what the dispute is about is appropriate and helpful for the Panel.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Mondrow, do you have anything to add?


MR. MONDROW:  No, thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. SPOEL:  Ms. DeMarco?


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  In sequence, unfortunately the submissions in sections 12 through 14 are not coloured as "background" or providing associated development of what is at issue, but rather as dispositive of the issue.  Specifically, the title indicates that there is no merit to TransAlta's complaint.


If the Board feels that, as Ms. Helt has said, it would be helpful to have these matters in as simply background to facilitate the Board's understanding, that's quite different than dispositive nature of how they're presented before the Board.


Secondly, in relation to the specific letter that the Board refers to, if I might take the Board to that December 2nd letter, on the second page, where TransAlta directly states:

"To be clear, TransAlta is not", underlined, "asking the Board to decide the merits of the DCQ interpretation issue at this stage.  TransAlta is only", underlined, "seeking direction of the preliminary issues referred to above.  The following information is provided for background purposes only to assist the Board in making its determination on the preliminary issues."

So, Madam Chair, if the issue would be helpful to the Board in that same regard, specifically to assist the Board in making its determination on the preliminary issues, TransAlta will withdraw its objection and request for those paragraphs to be struck.


However, as currently presented, they appear to be determinative of the substance of the complaint and should not be read as such, in our submission.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. SPOEL:  All right.  The Panel does not intend to make a decision today on the merits of the issue.  However, we do think it is useful, when determining jurisdictional matters, to know what the nature of the complaint and the positions of both parties on the complaint.


So we're not surprised that Union Gas would say that TransAlta's claim has no merit.  Presumably if Union thought your claim -- TransAlta's claim had merit you would have been able to resolve it between yourselves by now.  So we will take it as useful information for understanding the positions of the parties going forward.  And we're not going to strike it from the record.  I think it is quite helpful to know which -- where both parties are coming from, and we will take it in that spirit.


All right.  Having dealt with that, are there any other preliminary matters?


MS. HELT:  Yes, Madam Chair, there are two other preliminary matters, the first being that the Board received two letters on the afternoon, late afternoon, of April 2nd.  One from Veresen, and one from APPrO.  Both of these letters were filed and they -- both authors requested that be the letters be read into the record in this proceeding, as they would not be attending.

I don't think it is necessary to read the letters into the record.  I've left a copy of the letters on the dais with you.  As I said, they have been filed with the Board secretary's office.

You can consider them as a letter of comment in this proceeding, in my submission.  And perhaps for the purpose of the transcript it would be helpful to mark these as exhibits, if the Panel would like to do so.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.  We will mark them as exhibits.  I do note that my copy of the Veresen letter only has the first page of the letter.  The second page doesn't seem to have been printed, but we can get that later.  But meanwhile, yes, we will mark these as exhibits, if you could give them numbers.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If there is no objection, the letter from Veresen will be marked as Exhibit K1.1.


EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  Letter from Veresen.

MS. HELT:  And the letter from APPrO will be marked as Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  Letter from APPrO.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  All right.  And in addition, Madam Chair, I think it might be helpful if we just mark the remainder of the documents that have been left for you on the dais as exhibits at this time, if there's no objection from counsel.

You will have a copy of a compendium or a Book of Authorities from TransAlta, that we could mark as Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  Book of Authorities from TransAlta.

MS. HELT:  There is a written reply submission of TransAlta, which can be marked as K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  Written reply submission of TransAlta.

MS. HELT:  And then the compendium of Union Gas Limited, we can mark as K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  Compendium of Union Gas Limited.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  I have no other matters.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  So, Ms. DeMarco, I think it is over to you to make your argument on the preliminary matters, preliminary issues.
Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  By way of background, the preliminary issues are set out in two places.  First, in the applicant's, in TransAlta's December 3rd letter that forms part of the application, the bulk of the application.

And then secondly, in TransAlta's March 23rd letter requesting additional relief.

With that as the supporting background and documentary background, there are a few contextual issues that the -- that TransAlta would like to bring to the attention of the Board.

Certainly this issue is not an issue simply between private, sophisticated, commercial parties.  But rather, it is an issue of a utility contract that has long-standing jurisdiction and review by the Board, long-standing involvement of the Board over the last decade pertaining to terms and conditions of a contract that is implementing a specific rate schedule and rate order of the Board.

It is in that context that the Board has been considering related issues as are set out in the preliminary issues now before the Board pertaining to Obligated Daily Contract Quantities and related terms and conditions applicable to only certain customers.  And I will refer to Obligated Daily Contract Quantities through the acronym ODCQ or Obligated DCQ.  With apologies for the ongoing TLAs or three-letter acronyms that this industry is so well known for at this point.

MS. SPOEL:  That is what we're trying to move away from.  Actually, for the transcript, it would be better if you just said the whole words.

MS. DeMARCO:  I will certainly do my best not to slip into the colloquial four-letter acronyms or three-letter acronyms.

So specifically, there are two issues here before the Board.  One is a sector-wide, long-standing issue pertaining to natural gas electricity interface issues, related to discriminatory obligations for only certain customers to deliver an obligated daily contract quantity of gas, which resulted in a specific TransAlta complaint related to the harm that TransAlta suffered as a result of being subject to discriminatory application of Obligated daily contract quantity terms and conditions, of a combined gas transportation and storage contract under the T1/T2 rates and rate schedule that is regulated by the Board.

As background, this issue really reached its nexus during the winter of 2014 when TransAlta was forced to purchase and deliver uneconomic gas, which it did not need, and was prevented from freely selling, at Obligated Daily Contract Quantities, such gas in a manner that was not supported by the express terms and conditions of the T1/T2 contract wording then in force.

These challenges, contrary to Union's initial submissions and reply to the application, have not been resolved through the imposition of a new contract.  To put it very bluntly, this is not an old contract/new contract issue.  Rather, it's an ongoing sector-wide issue with very specific grounding in the winter of 2014 and limited ongoing challenges now, in the winter of 2015.

It is an issue where it's very clear that Union, in other cases, has relied upon its differential treatment of the obligated DCQ issue.  More specifically, the flexibility of unobligated DCQ requirements to support leave to construct applications.  And I am referring very specifically to Union's application for leave to construct in and around the greenfield bypass application at EB‑2014-0147, which forms part of our application.

So again, in summary on this point, the preliminary issues pertaining to the Board's jurisdiction that TransAlta has brought before you today do not result from a fleeting, bad winter, old contract/new contract commercial matter between two private sectors.  But rather, they result from a long-standing issue of monopoly, utility terms of service for certain customers under a regulated rate schedule that the Board has been seized of for nearly a decade in each of the following proceedings.

And the history is quite significant.  I don't intend to go through at any length the full and detailed provisions in each of these proceedings, but they are outlined in our reply submissions at paragraphs 7 through to 21.

Very specifically, the Board first considered the obligated DCQ issues and related needs of changing gas service for electricity customers in the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review, specifically at EB-2005-0551. And I won't use the acronym NGEIR, but we know we're talking about the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review.

Union had, as part of its decision in the settlement agreement the Board approved, reached some basis of settlement for treating customers differently in relation to their size and in relation to their age, as it pertains to obligated DCQ issues.

However, the ongoing changing needs of the sector were recognized in the NGEIR decision.  And in the Board's decision with reasons in the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review, the Board found expressly that it is essential that there be clear, standardized, and consistently applied rules, in this case for allocating utility storage services to customers, that those rules weren't in effect, and related contract changes to the T1 contract were required.

It is with respect that TransAlta submits we find ourselves in the exact same position today.

We have differential treatment of certain utility and electricity generation customers as it pertains to terms and conditions of a T1/T2 contract and, very specifically, there is not clear, standardized, and consistently applied rules for the treatment of customers in relation to obligated DCQ.

Moreover, there is prejudice and harm that is resulting from the treatment of obligated DCQ issues for certain Union customers.  Specifically, TransAlta has experienced such harm.

There are a number of questions as to whether or not the Board has jurisdiction to look very specifically at the terms and conditions of a precise or specific contract and whether the Board will exercise that jurisdiction.

We would submit, respectfully, that the Board has, in fact, that jurisdiction and has historically exercised that jurisdiction, and this situation should be no different.

Specifically, in the context of the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review, at pages 88 through to 93, the Board looked at and considered specific non-uniform terms and conditions of certain T1 contracts and found that if there are to be non-standard allocations it is important that the Board understand the circumstances to be satisfied that any such exceptions are justified.

And, very specifically, the Board directed Union to file with the Board very specific contracts so that it could examine the terms and conditions of those contracts and any other multi-year T1 contracts.  And there I am expressly referring to page 93 of the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review decision.

So it is TransAlta's submission that, very respectfully, the NGEIR decision is extremely relevant to what's going on in the instant proceeding.  It not only expressly indicates that the Board has jurisdiction over the specific terms and conditions of individual T1 customer contracts, but that the Board has actively exercised that jurisdiction to review the terms and conditions of specific T1 contracts.

The Board has continued to exercise that jurisdiction in other related proceedings, specifically in the storage allocation policies decision, EB-2007-0724, -0725.  The Board undertook the process of attempting to develop clear, standardized, and consistently applied rules, particularly relating to T1 customers and their storage needs and the utility allocation of related capacity.

The NGEIR decision, the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review decision, also resulted in the Board in fact formulating a rule, the storage and transportation access rule, to in fact ensure non-discriminatory access to storage and transportation services.  And very specifically, the STAR requires now that, among other things, integrated utilities and storage providers, transmission providers, provide for standard terms of service and forms of contracts for transportation services, and an alternate dispute complaint resolution mechanism.

Despite this implementation of the rule, despite the decision on storage allocation policies, despite the allocation and associated decision in the NGEIR, we still see the current issues before the Board relating to discriminatory, non-standard, non-consistent application of terms and conditions applicable to only certain electricity generation and industrial customers.

This broad sector issue, again, was brought before the Board recently in the context of the Board's natural gas market review, and a number of entities -- including the Association of Power Producers -- squarely brought forward the obligated DCQ issue for the Board's consideration in that context.

Finally, last but certainly not least, in the context of a proceeding that gave rise to the instant complaint proceeding, TransAlta sought to have the matters related to the significant harm that it experienced determined in the context of the Union penalty's case, which was EB-2014-0154.  The Board did not, as Union has suggested in its submissions, decide that the Board did not have jurisdiction to consider Union's discriminatory obligation, obligation of the obligated daily contract quantity terms and services -- terms and conditions of service in that context.

And in particular, I am sure it must have been an oversight on my friend's part, but the excerpt that was included in my friend's submissions of last night does not include the full dispositive provisions of that decision, and I would like to make sure that the Board has those in front of them.

Specifically, in the Board's decision on the TransAlta motion in EB-2014-0154, the Board did not say it did not have jurisdiction.  In fact, quite the contrary.  This is what the Board said:
"Although the issues raised by TransAlta in Kitchener in their interrogatories and motion materials do not fall within the scope of this proceeding, that does not mean that these issues -- the issues raised by these parties are not valid.  The issues raised represent legitimate issues that may fall within the jurisdiction of the Board.  TransAlta and Kitchener may wish to file a complaint with the Board by way of letter alleging that Union is failing to comply with an enforceable provision under the act, for example a provision of a rate order of the Board.  The matter could then be considered by the Board to determine if a compliance review is warranted.  Alternatively, if TransAlta or Kitchener accepts that Union is properly implementing a rate approved by the Board, the letter could request that the Board, on its own motion, review the rate in question.  Such a letter would have to address the Board's jurisdiction, any issues of retroactivity, and would have to end the exceptional circumstances that would persuade the Board to enquire into the matter".

It then goes on to state the only portion of the sentence that Union excerpted, and that is:
"The Board has set just and reasonable rates for Union and the resolution of contractual disputes is generally outside of the mandate of the Board."

The full context, TransAlta would submit, is extremely important to highlight the breadth and importance of the issues before the Board.

So with that, we ask the Board, brought forward -- TransAlta asked the Board and brought forward a number of preliminary issues and additional requested relief in relation to the broader sector-wide issue in order to ensure that the substance and process that it was following was consistent with the Board's own interpretation of its jurisdiction and willingness to exercise that jurisdiction.

If I might first deal with the additional requested relief.  On March 23rd, TransAlta filed a letter in support of its additional requested relief relating to the issue of differential treatment of obligated DCQ issues in the broader sectoral context.

Specifically, the issue continues to have sector-wide impacts, and was not resolved in the context of the Board's natural gas market review to date.

The letters filed on the record by APPrO and Veresen indicate that the issue is relevant.  It is pressing, and therefore warrants the Board's involvement and decision-making should a consensus solution not be reached as the timing for next winter gas and contract negotiations approaches.

Specifically, TransAlta requested that if no consensus is reached through the Union consultations on or before June 30th, the Board should order that the obligated DCQ issues, the obligated daily contract quantity issues, become either the subject of a natural gas market review proceeding like the annual combined natural gas and electricity energy sector forum, as recently announced by the Board on March 31st of this year, or a Union rate proceeding before 2016, if possible, in the context of the current incentive rate-making that Union is subject to.  Or, alternatively, a dedicated proceeding specific to the obligated DCQ issue.

Contrary to Union's submissions in this regard, TransAlta is not asking the Board to resolve the obligated DCQ issue in this proceeding, rather, to provide a path and procedure for its resolution.

And, therefore, this matter is squarely and properly before the Board in this proceeding.

MS. SPOEL:  Ms. DeMarco, can I just ask you a question there.  I guess this is something we have been struggling with a little bit since we got your letter last December.  And that question is:  In this proceeding, what exactly is it -- what relief is TransAlta seeking from this Panel in this proceeding?

I am not sure we have -- well, you might address this, but I am not sure we have the jurisdiction to make an order that the Board will consider something at a later date, if it is not resolved, or that we can set in motion a motion to review something on the Board's own motion.

I mean, I am not sure that is within the jurisdiction, certainly within the jurisdiction of the Board as a kind of corporate entity or whatever, but I don't think it is necessarily within our specific jurisdiction, sitting here today.

So can you address that?  Just exactly what is it that you want?  If we were to make a decision right this minute, what would you want us, or what do you think we can do and what would you want us to do?  Because I think that would be very helpful for us.

You know, we understand the background and the difficulties the parties have had and why you are here and so on, seeking some sort of relief, but I guess the question is:  What relief is it that you are looking for from us?

MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically in relation to the additional relief?

MS. SPOEL:  Both.  The whole thing.  Like if you can make a list -- like if we were to make a ruling right now that would be the ruling you would like us to make, what would it say?  And why can we do that?

MS. DeMARCO:  So, in that regard, I would refer you to page 2 of the Board's -- actually, page 1 and page 2 of the December 3rd letter of the Board.  And, very specifically, TransAlta would request a ruling that the Board has the jurisdiction to consider and decide the correct interpretation of obligated DCQ obligations and definitions in the standard form, T1/T2 contract, held by TransAlta and that the Board will exercise that jurisdiction in a specific hearing of the complaint.

Secondly, if the Board determines that it does have that jurisdiction, if it answers that question in the affirmative, we're seeking a preliminary determination that the Board, again, does have and will exercise jurisdiction over the amounts that may be owing to TransAlta under the T1/T2 contract.

Effectively, that the Board has jurisdiction over the determination and award of restitution damages, as it has exercised in the past in other cases.  And to that end, we have put the Summitt Energy case before the Board.

Finally, and most emphatically, if the Board finds that it does not have jurisdiction in relation to either of the first two questions, or alternatively that it does not choose to exercise its jurisdiction in relation to either of the first two questions, that the Board will order that the specific issue related to the determination of the obligated DCQ issues and related damages be referred to arbitration between the parties, through an expert arbitrator with experience in Ontario energy law, particularly given the long and lengthy history of this issue before the Board, so that it can be finally resolved by an entity with the associated jurisdiction -- with the associated expertise to resolve the matter.

MS. SPOEL:  So can I work backwards, using your third point, and setting aside the question if we chose not to exercise that, if we determined that we didn't have jurisdiction to decide -- to deal with it, how would we then have jurisdiction to refer something to an arbitrator, if we don't have jurisdiction to deal with disputes under the contract?

MS. DeMARCO:  The Board has general jurisdiction in relation to two facets of the law.

The first is in relation to the storage and transportation access rule, which expressly provides for the requirement for related standard form contracts.  And we would clearly submit that the T1/T2 contract is a contract administered by an integrated utility that does have significant storage portions to it that is governed by the STAR, and should be resolved in accordance with the complaint mechanism in section 5.1 of the STAR, and should have the hallmarks of such a contract as set out in section 2.3.4.8 -- I will check on the number -- of the STAR in relation to the obligation to have alternate dispute mechanisms.

Secondly, the Board's own rules of practice, at rule number 29.01, expressly provide the Board with the ability to order mandatory alternate dispute resolution.  And, very expressly, rule 29.01 stipulates that -- and I am quoting:
"The Board may direct that participation in alternate dispute resolution, ADR, be mandatory."

MS. SPOEL:  But would that not be where a dispute is already within the jurisdiction of the Board?  I mean, that is something we can do within one of our legitimate processes, is to order mandatory ADR as part of the process.  But if we found that we have no jurisdiction, how would we then have the jurisdiction to order ADR over a matter over which we had already determined -- and I am just trying to -- this is to flesh that particular piece out.  But if we don't have jurisdiction, how can we do anything?

MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly, my submissions are two-fold.

The first is that the provisions in section 29.01 are not limited.  Secondly, more specifically, that the Board has jurisdiction in relation to this matter, has jurisdiction in relation to the specific terms and conditions of T1/T2 contracts, and has exercised that jurisdiction repeatedly over the last decade.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  Those are your first two.  Those are your first two arguments.

MS. DeMARCO:  Very specifically, yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Very specifically, that we have jurisdiction.  I can --


MS. DeMARCO:  That you have jurisdiction.  That you have exercised it in relation to T1/T2.  And certainly there is a decade worth of precedence showing that the Board has jurisdiction in relation to this specific type of T1/T2 contract.

Similarly in relation to other matters, like at the Summitt Energy case, the Board has delved into, very specifically, individual contracts and exercised jurisdiction in relation to that as well.

MS. HARE:  I don't understand that analogy to Summitt Energy.

MS. DeMARCO:  In relation to -- and certainly I don't want to overstate the case in any way, shape, or form.

MS. HARE:  What is the comparison that you are making?

MS. DeMARCO:  That the Board did actually exercise its jurisdiction in and around specific provisions of an individual contract.  And not only did it exercise contractual interpretation, but it awarded damages in relation to that contract.

MS. SPOEL:  But wasn't Summitt Energy a compliance issue?

MS. DeMARCO:  It was a compliance matter, yes.  And so I don't want to over-emphasize the breadth and extent of that case, as it applies to the instant case.  But certainly the tone and tenor of what we've got before the Board now is looking more and more like adherence to the specific rules and requirements of the rates and rate schedules in T1 and T2 as applied through the specific terms and conditions of a contract with -- between TransAlta and Union.

MS. HARE:  Ms. DeMarco, can I ask you, why didn't TransAlta just proceed under the complaint mechanism under STAR?

MS. DeMARCO:  In relation to the broader issue, we were directed and encouraged by the Board's direction, specifically in EB-2014-0154, as it pertains to the broader issues and the overarching complaint.

So the letter is inclusive of the STAR issues, but also, in relation to the very specific issues now before the Board, that would include, again, its application of how it interprets and applies the terms and conditions of the T1/T2 rates and rate schedule.

That being said, the specific complaint under the STAR has been launched with Union and there has been no movement in relation to that going forward.

MS. HARE:  Let me ask you another thing, because you do recognize that you're taking this to the rate schedule.  Was this issue raised during -- I don't want to get into what was discussed in ADR, but was this issue not raised during Union's last cost-of-service application?

MS. DeMARCO:  I can't answer that directly.

MR. SMITH:  I can.  You will see at -- this will be a feature of my submissions, but my friend indicated a number of times that Union has discriminated as between electricity generators and, of course, that goes back to the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review, and I will make some submissions about that, but you may recall that in the last rate case Union proposed to split out its T1 rate into rate T1 and rate T2.  And that issue was raised, and at tab 17 of our compendium we've included an excerpt from Union's pre-filed evidence in that proceeding, and I would just draw the Board to the bottom of the page, talking about the transportation service provisions that are applicable to new and existing customers, and with incremental daily firm demand requirements in excess of 1.2 million cubic metres per day.

And then you will see, I have included at tab 18, it is the most recent rate schedule, but the rate schedule is no different coming out of the cost-of-service proceeding.

And at page 5, I believe, of the rate schedule -- I'm sorry, it may be page 7 of the rate schedule -- you will see, under the heading "other services and charges", you will see under the heading "delivery obligations" there is a reference to "effective January 1, 2007" which follows on the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review, and then it talks about, new and existing customers may have the right to a non-obligated DCQ; and then there is a daily contract quantity, and then there is a reference to Union's policies.

So my recollection is that there was no specific dispute, but the terms and conditions and the availability of potentially for certain customers having a non-obligated daily contract quantity was ultimately reflected in the rate order issued by the Board, and that's been carried through, and the rate order's issued by the Board in respect of 2014 rates and 2015 rates.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, we have probably got you a little bit off-track here, but maybe you could go back to -- let's leave aside what happens, perhaps, if we don't have jurisdiction.  Maybe you could go back to your first two points, as to your argument as to why we do have jurisdiction to consider the contract terms and the ongoing issue.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am happy to go there.  If I could, with the Board's indulgence, just address the last point that was raised quite specifically, and it's very clear that a number of customers do not and are not entitled to non-obligated deliveries.  And that's the issue that brings this complaint, specifically the -- how Union implements specifically the terms and conditions of contracts that are meant to implement the rates and rate schedules that have been particularly problematic and especially prejudicial to certain customers, and that was never more emphasized than at the time of last winter, but also experienced again this winter, when certain customers were effectively being called upon to support the system in a way that other customers were not.  That is the crux of the issue.

So with thanks for that indulgence, going back to the specific submissions on why the Board has jurisdiction in relation to the preliminary threshold issues, first in relation to the Board's jurisdiction to interpret a T1/T2 contract, we would indicate, first, the Board's historical supervisory jurisdiction and decade -- and I repeat -- decade of involvement in reviewing the terms and conditions of T1/T2 contracts supports, as evidence, the Board's necessary and continued jurisdiction over at least the interpretation of the contract.

Second, the T1/T2 contract falls within the Board's rate-making jurisdiction and oversight jurisdiction, including its administration and compliance with the storage and transportation access rule.  Effectively, the contract is -- the terms and conditions of the contract are the embodiment of the Board-regulated rates and rate schedule that it already has exercised jurisdiction over.  For the Board not to act in relation to the implementation, the embodiment, of that jurisdiction would be for the Board to fall short of ensuring compliance with and achieving consistency with the rate schedule that it is regulating.

Third, Union's conduct and the terms and conditions of the T1/T2 contract are not consistent with the conditions of the STAR, which the application clearly indicates TransAlta is of the view applies quite clearly to a combined transportation and storage contract in the nature of a T1/T2 contract.

Fourth, the Board has broad jurisdiction to review contracts relating to storage, transportation, and distribution of natural gas and has exercised that jurisdiction in many cases.

Fifth, last, but certainly not least, if the courts, and not the export (sic) Board who has been seized of this issue for the last decade, determines the issue, the Board may face restrictive and uninformed limits on the Board's exclusive and export (sic) jurisdiction.

If the courts become seized of the matter and make a determination that is not informed by the requisite expertise, context, and long OEB procedural history in relation to the storage and transportation contracts and specifically the related storage and transportation access rule, which the Board not only formulated but is charged with ensuring compliance with, there could be wide-reaching consequences and future implications for the Board.

TransAlta therefore submits that all of these issues, therefore, are most appropriately within the expert jurisdiction of the Board and therefore should be determined by the Board.

Moving on, with the Board's indulgence, to submissions relating to the Board's jurisdiction to award damages, certainly TransAlta does not want to overstate or overextend the nature and application of the Summitt Energy case, but certainly it is indicative that the courts have supported the Board's jurisdiction to both determine and award damages.  Albeit in this instance in relation to a specific compliance matter, TransAlta would argue that this matter, relating to the implementation of the terms and conditions of the T1 contract that are formulated under the T1 rate schedule, is analogous to a compliance matter.

However, should the Board wish to proceed very carefully based on the facts of each and every instance where it exercises jurisdiction to consider award and determine damages, TransAlta puts forward the alternative that, certainly, the Board may decide to hear the complaint and determine the contractual issue and refer the specific award of damages to an arbitration, binding arbitration, by an arbitrator with considerable expertise in Ontario energy law, so that that matter may be determined outside of the Board.

So, in that regard, TransAlta's relief requested indicates that, if the Board finds negatively on either of the first two preliminary issues, that the Board exercise its jurisdiction to order that the matter be resolved by way of binding arbitration.

We've gone over those submissions generally, but to summarize in that regard, there is both jurisdiction under the storage and transportation access rule, in TransAlta's submission, and under the Board's Rule 29.01 to allow the Board to very expressly provide for an order of mandatory alternate dispute resolution to resolve this matter.

So these are effectively the summary of TransAlta's submissions in this regard, and we are certainly open to any questions that the Board may have.

MS. SPOEL:  No further questions at this point.

Ms. Helt, are you -- or Mr. Mondrow, are you making any submissions today, or are you here to observe?

MR. MONDROW:  Well, we were invited so I was happy to come.

[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  No, sorry.  Thank you to the Board for considering us.

MS. SPOEL:  It's an open proceeding.
Submissions by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  So I will be making some submissions.  Quite frankly, I'm first trying to understand precisely how the issues are being framed by the two sides.  And we were invited -- along with APPrO, as I understand it -- in respect of the further amended relief, which has something to do with review of DCQ options or alternatives in a future proceeding.

So I certainly have a submission to make on that.

In respect of the issue of the Board's jurisdiction and precisely what's being claimed in the applicability of STAR, I certainly have thoughts.  I think IGUA does have a view.  I'm in the Board's hands, because I am not sure the invitation in the Board's letter extends that far.  And I should note for the Panel that I have been in touch with counsel for both SEC and CME, who were not invited by the Board, and I have been asked to reflect concerns -- at least on behalf of those two parties, and I wouldn't be surprised if there are other concerns of similar ilk -- that to the extent the Board is going to make determinations in respect of its jurisdiction over terms and conditions, rectification of prejudice to parties, and certainly future proceedings that will examine DCQ and who should be involved and what should be the scope of those, there are other parties that feel that they have a legitimate interest in those issues and would want to make representations.

So there is a concern that, if the Board is going to make any determinations today or in the balance of this proceeding, the implications of which could extend beyond this particular case, including deciding what jurisdiction the Board has in respect to these sort of disputes, that other parties should be both notified and, as they feel appropriate, permitted to may go submissions on the issue.

So I was asked to convey those concerns.

So the short answer is, yes, I do have something to say, but I am not sure this is the most appropriate moment, given that the exchange between the parties is, I think, attempting to clarify precisely what is ad idem and not ad idem.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, I guess -- to be more specific, do you have any submissions?  Does IGUA have any submissions on the -- or, I guess, does IGUA seek the opportunity to make submissions on the questions?  Not the additional issues, but the questions raised by TransAlta in its original letter, the matter of the jurisdiction of the Board to deal with the specific complaints of the T1/T2 contracts?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, we would like to.

MS. SPOEL:  That issue.  And -- okay.  All right.

And I am just trying to work out an order here, because I want Union to be able to -- to be in a position to respond, obviously, to various...

So is IGUA's position in support of -- generally in support of the position put forward by TransAlta?  Or is it more in support of the position that Union has put forward?

MR. MONDROW:  I would say it's part one and part the other.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  So --


MR. MONDROW:  So perhaps going in in the middle, before Union, would be appropriate in that respect.

MS. SPOEL:  Perhaps the fairest thing -- since TransAlta will have a right of reply at the end, perhaps the fairest thing, Mr. Mondrow, is for you for you to make your submissions now, followed by Board Staff, if that is acceptable, Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  Yes, that's fine.

MS. SPOEL:  And then Union to follow that, Mr. Smith.  Is that acceptable?  Which gives Union an opportunity to respond to all of the various issues raised.

MR. SMITH:  That is acceptable.  I understand -- well, it is acceptable.  It's fine.  I understand the Board Staff's position to be not unlike ours, so I am perhaps less fussed.  But it probably makes sense for us to go last.

MS. SPOEL:  Just trying to make --


MR. SMITH:  No, I know.  I think it makes sense.

MS. SPOEL:  -- it as fair as possible, to give everybody a chance to say what they have to say and also to give people a chance to respond.

All right.  Then, Mr. Mondrow, how long do you think you are going to need?

MR. MONDROW:  Five minutes.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Why don't you proceed now.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And I am sorry for the confusion, but perhaps, like the rest of this complaint and perhaps to some extent some of the rest of us, I am trying to get my head around what is really at issue here.

So on behalf of IGUA, I would offer comments on a couple of points that seem to be engaged by the complaint, and Union's response to the complaint.

So first and foremost, IGUA's view is that the Board does have jurisdiction to determine the appropriate conditions of service.  And conditions of service for large customers, as you know, are often reflected in terms and conditions of their contracts with the regulated utilities and, in this case, Union in particular.

And further, the Board does have a jurisdiction to determine, obviously, what is inappropriate in respect of contractual or service requirements between Union and its customers.

I would actually refer to a decision of the Board which, obviously, doesn't have -- is not precedentially binding but I think is informative, which I was looking at yesterday in the context of this complaint, in this proceeding.  And that is the Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative matter vis-à-vis NRG, which Member Hare will be familiar with.  I believe she was on that panel.

And I do recall watching that proceeding with some interest from a distance.  Obviously with NRG there is often a lot of history to matters, and I won't go into all of that history, but I did look at the decision of the Board in early 2014 -- I believe it was issued sometime in February 2014 -- which dealt with Integrated Grain Processors Co-operative or IGPC's concerns regarding NRG's policy on the matters of contributions in aid of construction security required and the appropriate expenses that NRG claimed to have incurred, associated with service to IGPC, and the construction of this dedicated connection.  And there were some claims by NRG for reimbursement.

And all of that came before the Board, I think, in a couple of appearances.  And for the record, the docket numbers that I have from looking at this material yesterday are EB-2012-0406 and EB-2013-0081.  But as I say, the actual decision I was looking at was in early 2014, and there was a subsequent decision which then got into details of calculations.


And essentially what the Board did is, it found that it did have jurisdiction over contributions in aid of construction, which it determined to be a rate.  And in then proceeding to sort out as between the parties what should be contributed and what shouldn't be contributed and how the security should be held and in what amounts and when it should be refunded, the Board got into some details and actually issued an order regarding the amounts that NRG was allowed to claim and the amounts that NRG was required to return to IGPC from the security that IGPC had initially posted, all of which indicates to me that the Board has in the past, and in my view, quite rightly exercised jurisdiction over the commercial terms or what some might refer to as the commercial terms between parties, but associated with the provision of utility service.


Now, that led me then to think about what TransAlta is seeking from you, and as I understand it -- and this hasn't actually come up yet this morning, but as I understand it, the initial dispute that is framed in TransAlta's complaint that is before you today has to do with the calculation of the appropriate amount of gas that TransAlta is obligated under its -- or was obligated under its previous contract to deliver to Union in the form of a daily contract quantity, or DCQ.


So that leads me to wonder whether the Board has and should exercise jurisdiction over the appropriate DCQ calculation and interpretation of whatever clauses in that contract are in dispute.


And I must confess I haven't studied those.  And it seems to me that the Board would have jurisdiction to interpret the -- and direct the appropriate terms and conditions of service, which those clauses would be a portion of.


TransAlta then says it is seeking damages and relies on the Summitt case.  Of course, as you've noted in the Summitt case, the issue was really restitution, rather than damages.  I think there is a legal difference between those two.


And here, I gather that TransAlta's concern and request for damages or some sort of award has to do with the amounts of gas purchased above the DCQ they say they had and who should pay for those, which seems to me to be much more of a commercial issue and, indeed, historical commercial issue as between parties than a matter of sorting out terms and conditions of service and making sure that if the utility is holding money it shouldn't, that money gets returned, which was what IGPC was about, which is why I mentioned that off the top.


So I am not actually going to offer you a conclusion on IGUA's part in respect of your engagement with these gas purchases and the costs thereof, but it seems to me that that issue is somewhat remote from the Board's clear jurisdiction over the appropriate terms and conditions of service and regulating the relationship between parties, mostly on a prospective basis, but certainly on a complaint basis if there's been a wrong done, or an unfairness, or in respect of how a customer is -- requires to interact with the utility.  That is about all I can say on the damages issue at the moment.


I do note that TransAlta has referred a few times in its materials to the Storage and Transmission Access Rule, which, as the name suggests, is a rule about open access of parties to storage and transmission in the province.


I fail to see the relationship between STAR and DCQ, and because STAR requires arbitration it's not clear to me how that concept gets imported into this dispute.


And so IGUA -- and I have spoken with some IGUA members and IGUA's president, and we are puzzled by that reference.  But it doesn't seem to me that STAR is applicable to DCQ matters, and certainly IGUA has never felt that it is.


Now, TransAlta's also talked about discriminatory treatment, and I must confess I don't fully understand what that is a reference to, unless it is a reference to some customers having obligated deliveries and some customers having non-obligated deliveries, which then brings me to the crux of why IGUA is -- apart from the Board's jurisdiction over the relationship between a utility and customers, which IGUA is interested in and concerned about, why IGUA is interested in this particular complaint.


And there is a lot of history to DCQs that are obligated and non-obligated deliveries for some customers, in particular large-power gens with very peaky requirements, and I don't fully understand the parameters of what allows a customer's delivery obligation to be non-obligated.


I would suggest that that material is not before the Board at this point, and it would be dangerous to try to parse whether TransAlta should have non-obligated status or not until there is a good understanding of why the non-obligated status was developed and what impact that might have on other customers; which brings me back to my reference to CME and Schools and others who are not here, and that is why IGUA is here.


In any event, whether TransAlta should have a non-obligated delivery seems to me a matter of prospective relief rather than retrospective relief associated with some sort of damages claim and to some extent a different issue from interpretation of the calculation of DCQ under its previous contract.


And so I am not sure how we got to the claim for discriminatory treatment, or I think more accurately who should be obligated and who should be non-obligated from a DCQ calculation on a contract that is now essentially spent.  Be that as it may, the issue has been raised, and so IGUA certainly thinks that is an important issue.


There are some IGUA members involved in some discussions, as there are some APPrO members, including TransAlta, as I understand it, with Union about -- and I might have the term wrong, but it is something like a customer managed supply service, which is a new service that I think is more akin to a non-obligated service, where customers with variable loads that use large amounts of gas, for whom it may well be -- hardship maybe overstating it, but perhaps less appropriate today that they deliver a certain amount every day of the year regardless of what they burn, should be or could be accommodated, and those discussions are ongoing.


There is also a related issue about firm storage injection and withdrawal service, and there is an additional cost for that to Union, but apparently during some peak times of the winter those withdrawals were curtailed, for reasons of system integrity, no doubt, but customers pay for that, and so there is some question about the value of that service.


All of that is the subject of ongoing discussions, and I take TransAlta to be saying that if those discussions are not fruitful the matter should be brought before the Board, and I fully agree.


I'm not, however, sure that the Board -- that this Panel of the Board needs to order anything in that respect. It seems to me that either the utility or its customers or both are at liberty in appropriate proceedings to bring forward these issues for adjudication of the Board if there is no ability to agree.


I think it is premature to conclude there is no ability to agree, since the parties are working on this proposal, and there may well be an appropriate service that comes out of this.  And if not, I would think that TransAlta or IGUA or Union could come to the Board and ask the Board to consider such a service, and IGUA would be fully prepared to do so if there isn't in some other fashion a consensus proposal brought forward by Union.


So again, I am not sure that the Board needs to -- this Panel needs to provide any relief in that respect.  I do think it is useful that the Board is aware of this, but we wouldn't advocate that the Panel needs to go any farther than that, on the assumption that if IGUA wants such a service or TransAlta wants such a service and there is merit to it we could always bring it forward.


In respect of the forum where it should be brought forward, I am not sure that a natural-gas forum is the best place to bring that forward, given that is essentially a policy proceeding, and I think what we're talking about is a service that ultimately would be subject to an order in respect of rates and terms and conditions of service, sometimes referred to collectively as a tariff.  That seems to me to be more appropriately addressed by the Board in a rate proceeding.

And so I would think Union's next rate filing would be the appropriate place to bring forward the issue of such a service, as I say either on a consensual basis, hopefully, and if not, at the instance of a customer who's got a legitimate proposal to float before the Board.


So from IGUA's perspective we're certainly content to leave the matter at that, and I have already addressed to you the interest that I believe other parties have, and I have certainly been informed by at least two parties they have in all of these matters, and if the Board is going to proceed to make determinations in this proceeding on any of those matters, short perhaps of the specific way to calculate TransAlta's historical DCQ, those other parties have asked me to express their interest and concern that they be able to make submissions on these broader issues, what I would characterize as broader issues in calculating 70,000 cubic metres or 50,000 cubic metres or whatever the numbers are.


So I hope that is helpful, and I think that is as far as I can take it at the moment.  I appreciate your time.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Ms. Helt, how long do you think you are likely to be in Board Staff's submissions?


MS. HELT:  Probably about 15 or 20 minutes.  I had anticipated going after Mr. Smith, but that is not necessary.  I am happy to proceed now, if you like.  And then you could have --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, maybe -- let's take our morning break and come back at 11:10, and maybe during the break you can discuss with Mr. Smith who is to proceed first.


MS. HELT:  Certainly.  I have no objection going first or not, but I can just advise the Panel that, you know, Staff does support the submissions that Mr. Smith has filed, and I will be taking a similar position to his position.


MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Well, we will leave that for the two of you to determine the order.  Maybe it is more convenient if Mr. Smith goes first.  We will return at 11:10.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:10 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Please be seated.  All right.  So we understand, Mr. Smith, that you are going to go next?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, thank you.

Continued Submissions by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Just before Mr. Smith starts, Madam Chair -- and, sorry, I did ask Mr. Smith if I could do this.  To the extent my submissions are all going to be helpful, I should at least get my EB references correct. So, for the record, I was talking earlier about an IGPC decision which, again, I think Member Hare is familiar with.


On February 7, 2013 in docket number EB-2012-0396, the Board found that the key question of whether a capital contribution is a rate as defined by the action be answered in the affirmative, and it does constitute a rate.  And the Board went on to say -- and this is at page 15 -- that, in cases where the parties cannot agree on the appropriate amount, which are rare, the Board will intervene to settle the dispute and ensure a just and reasonable rate is established.


So that was the context in which I referred to that decision.


I did refer to something happening in February 2014.  A year later, there was another decision with different docket numbers.  Again, Member Hare was one of the -- she was the presiding member on that case.  And those were the two dockets I referred to earlier, EB-2012-0406 and EB‑2013-0081.  And in that decision, a bunch of financial reconciliation was directed by the Board to ensure that IGPC paid an appropriate amount on account of the connection, but no more.  And there was an order that NRG had to repay some funds.


So I wanted to make sure that I was clearer than sometimes I am, for the record.  Thanks very much.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  All right, Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you members of the panel.

Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I should say at the outset that I, too, will likely refer to an NRG decision that concerns IGPC, but Member Hare was not on the panel.  So it may be the only one.


[Laughter]


MS. SPOEL:  There are many cases involving IGPC and NRG.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, I think that is probably fair.


This application is to answer three preliminary questions that were posed by TransAlta.  It is also to address the further claim for relief made by TransAlta in its March letter.


In Union's submission, each of those questions should be answered in the negative.  It is Union's submission that the Board does not have jurisdiction to resolve a private contractual dispute, a private historical contractual dispute, between the parties in which the applicant claims damages.


Similarly, the Board lacks authority to compel the parties to arbitrate their dispute.


That is not to say that TransAlta does not have an effective remedy.  It is a large, sophisticated enterprise and the contract between the parties already provides that the parties attorn to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Superior Court of Justice of Ontario.


And it is also not to suggest that the Board lacks authority in relation to the issue of obligated deliveries on a prospective basis, and what policy may be appropriate with respect to obligated deliveries.  And, in my submission, it is important that the Board bear that in mind, because TransAlta's submissions, in my -- I say, wrongly conflate the two issues.


And I think it is important to bear the two distinctions in mind, and indeed I will be making that point when I go back and review the Natural Gas Electricity Interface decision.


Let me begin by setting out what, in my submission, is at issue and what is not at issue.


This is not a rate proceeding.  It is not a question of setting just and reasonable rates.  There are already final rate orders from the Board in relation to 2014 rates and 2015 rates.


As I said, in my submission, TransAlta is wrongly conflating the issue of a going-forward daily contract quantity policy, what may be appropriate with the issue of contract interpretation historically and a claim for damages.


What is at issue is the proper interpretation of a T1 gas storage and distribution contract.  And I emphasize the word "distribution" because, as I will be coming to later, this is not a transmission contract to which STAR would apply.  And STAR does not apply to the issue of the appropriate daily contract quantity.


The contract at issue is contained in our compendium, at tab 2.  It is not the contract that currently exists between the parties.  The contract that exists between the parties superseded this contract.


So what is it that TransAlta is complaining about?  Fundamentally, TransAlta is advancing a breach of contract claim in connection with its obligation under the old contract to deliver a daily contract quantity of gas.  In effect, what TransAlta is saying is that its DCQ, or its contract, should be interpreted such that the daily contract quantity it was required to deliver to Union is, or was, 12,912 gJs of gas per day, and not 17,904.


And it seeks, in support of that -- and this was apparent from my friend's submission -- an award of damages.


And that is obvious, in my submission, both from the nature of the three questions that are asked, what TransAlta is asking for:  Does the OEB have and will it exercise jurisdiction to determine the correct interpretation of TransAlta's daily contract quantity?  And then second, if the Board does have jurisdiction, does the OEB have, and will it exercise, jurisdiction over the amounts that may be owed to TransAlta under the T1/T2 contract?  And that's the claim for damages.


So it may be worth taking you to the contract and reviewing certain of the parameters.  So you will see, at the first page, this is a gas storage and distribution contract.  Under the incorporations, the first item incorporated is the -- is schedule 1, which sets out the contract parameters being the daily contract quantity, storage, and distribution services.  Again, reference to "distribution."


And then under item (b), you will see that there is a reference to the T1 contract terms and conditions being incorporated in schedule 2, subject to section 12.18 of Union's general terms and conditions.


And then there is a reference to Union's general terms and conditions, and then there is the applicable T1 rate schedule.


So all four of those, bundled together, set out the terms of the T1 contract.


If you look at the next page over, under "Services Provided," it is item 4.  And, again, what Union agrees to provide there are storage services and distribution services, as specified in schedule 1 and schedule 1 A.  Again, no transportation.


If you turn over to schedule 1, this is, again -- sets out the daily contract quantity storage and distribution services parameters.  And then you will see, under item 2, daily contract quantity, DCQ, it sets out that the parties have agreed to an obligated daily contract quantity, gJs per day at dawn, of 17,904 gJs per day.

And then if you turn over the page, you should see schedule 2, under the heading "delivery" -- actually, before we come to that, under the first item you will see upstream transportation costs, and I will circle around with that, and then item 2, delivery, "customer accepts the obligations to deliver the obligated DCQ", daily contract quantity, "parameters in schedule 2 -- schedule 1 to Union on a firm basis", and that is the schedule that we looked at just a minute ago.

The reason I referred to transportation there is, there is a distinction, obviously, between transmission, sometimes referred to or often referred to as "transportation" and "distribution", and I thought it helpful, because this paragraph -- or these two paragraphs show the juxtaposition.

But the other thing to bear in mind here is, TransAlta is not a system gas customer.  And what TransAlta is really complaining about is its own cost of gas, and of course its own cost of gas is not an amount that it pays to Union.

So it may be worth the Board noting that Union does not have or is not in receipt, under this contract, of any monies from TransAlta.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could just interject.  We are getting increasingly concerned with where Mr. Smith is going in arguing the substance of the complaint and specifically the detailed contractual provisions that are the subject of the substance of the complaint and not the threshold preliminary issues that are before the Board.  And this relates back to my concerns, preliminary concerns, raised at the outset of this hearing relating to what we're here today to do, and that is examine those preliminary issues, not to consider and determine the substance of the complaint at this time.

So we're seeking the Board's direction as to where Mr. Smith is going and, specifically, whether the Board intends to hear the substance of the complaint at this time.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Ms. DeMarco, I think it is helpful  -- given that the question is whether or not we have jurisdiction to decide the contract terms in the context of rate, I think it is helpful to understand Union's views or Union's position as to where it falls -- what the relationship is between the contract and the rate, since that is what you want the Board to decide that we have jurisdiction to deal with.

So I think from that -- to that extent it is helpful.  What the correct daily quantities are, how they should be calculated, if we did have jurisdiction, we're not going to get into any -- don't propose we get into any of that today, but I think it is useful in discussing our jurisdiction to review the contract to actually sort or understand what the contract is all about.

And I know that in your written submissions and your initial letters you expressed some views about the terms of the contract, and so I think we can hear what Union is saying without making a decision on the validity of TransAlta's specific complaint, if that helps.

MS. DeMARCO:  It does, Madam Chair, on the understanding that TransAlta will be provided with sufficient similar latitude to refer to the provisions of the contextual contract.

MS. SPOEL:  Of course.

MR. SMITH:  I will review all of the contract terms, but it is important to bear in mind, Madam Chair, as we go through this, one of the reasons I emphasized that this is not a -- that TransAlta is not a system customer and that it bears its own cost of gas, because whatever rate it pays for that cost of gas is not the subject of a rate order.

So there is not a complaint that Union is breaching any rate that TransAlta is being charged in relation to its own cost of gas.  It's required under -- we say under the contract to deliver a certain amount, but even under TransAlta's interpretation, if it's a lower amount, it would still bear the cost at whatever it costs it to procure that gas.

The only exception to that -- and we will come to it, but the only exception to that is if it fails to deliver the gas.  Then if it fails to deliver the gas it is subject to the failure to deliver rate, which is set out in the R1 rate schedule.

But even then that is not an amount of money that Union keeps, as the Board will be well aware.  That amount of money then flows through the purchase gas variance account. So it's not a question of money being paid to TransAlta pursuant to a rate.

Now, TransAlta does pay a rate, of course.  It pays a T1 distribution rate for the delivery once it gets the gas on Union's system to its facility, but that rate is also not in dispute and not -- there is no issue of Union not charging TransAlta the appropriate rate for that service under the T1 rate schedule.

If you turn over the page to page 3 of 7, you will see under the heading 2.6 "type of distribution service", and there again is that word "distribution":

"The type of distribution service herein shall be a combination of firm and interruptible service for each point of consumption as identified in Schedule 1."

And then I had just mentioned this, but if you go over the page to page 7, "customer's failure to deliver gas", and then that's -- "if the customer does fail to deliver, the failure to deliver rate in the R1 rate schedule shall apply", and there is no issue of the applicability of that rate.

That then takes you to the general terms and conditions, which are set out beginning on the next page, and a few provisions that I will take you to.

The first is found at article 12, which is on page 14 of 21.  And this is an inconsistency provision.  And I mentioned earlier that there were a number of items incorporated by reference, but it's worth noting that:

"In the event of a conflict among the terms of the rate schedules, the body of the contract, the schedules to the contract, and these general terms and conditions confirms the documents shall govern in the priority as listed."

And that matters for the following reason.  If you turn over the page to page 18, under the daily contract, you will see the definition of "daily contract quantity", and what it says, the definition there is in these general terms and conditions means "that portion of the daily parameters as set out in schedule 1, being a quantity of gas which customer must deliver to Union on a firm basis", and then it continues:

"The DCQ (gJ/day) is equal to 12 months of consumption of end-use locations, underline the direct purchase contract divided by 365 days, times the heating value.  If this contract has a term of greater than 12 months, the DCQ is calculated by dividing the historical consumption for the term of this contract by the number of days in this contract term."

The consumption of general service end-use locations is weather-normalized, and it is that second-last sentence of this general term and condition which I understand TransAlta to be relying on to suggest that the DCQ should be less than the amount set out in the schedule, obviously, so you have Union's position, we don't agree with TransAlta's interpretation of the daily contract quantity and we rely on the wording that it is the amount set out in schedule 1, and we also rely on the inconsistency provision, to the extent it were ever determined that there is an inconsistency, it is apparent from the terms of the contract that the schedule to the contract would take precedence over the general terms and conditions, and the schedule to the contract is clear.  That's the nature of the interpretation exercise.


And then the final section that is worth referring to is under section 12.03, back a page -- back two pages, at page 15.  This is the "proper law of contract" section at the top of the page:
"This contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the parties to this contract exclusively attorn to the jurisdiction of the courts of Ontario."

So those are the relevant contractual parameters, which takes me, then, to the issue of the Board's jurisdiction.  And those submissions can be found at page 5 of our submissions.

And in a nutshell, it is Union's submission that the Board has no jurisdiction to interpret and -- the old contract and award damages.  And we say, with respect, that none of the sections referred to by TransAlta, either in its submissions or in oral argument, assist TransAlta in this respect.

First, we say that none of the provisions of the Ontario Energy Board Act, specifically section 36, or the complaints mechanism procedure, which this is not, apply.  
Second, we say that none of the decisions referred to -- and specifically my friend places great emphasis on the NGEIR decision, which I will go to -- and, in my submission, that does not assist.

And then, thirdly, we say that STAR, the storage and transportation access rule, does not assist my friend -- does not assist my friend, either.

Taking the first, section 36 of the Act does not support TransAlta's arguments.  The provision allows the Board to fix or approve just and reasonable rates on a prospective basis.  Nothing in the act gives the Board the power to award damages on a retrospective basis.  And nothing in section 36 allows the Board -- even if this were a rate case, which it's not -- allows the Board to vary the rate on a retroactive basis.

What the Board has said in relation to that, I think, is instructive, and I will come to it in a minute in the NRG proceeding.  But by way of background, I think it is helpful to look at a couple of court decisions on point with respect to the Board's decision.

And I won't belabour them.  They are in our materials at tabs -- beginning at tab 8 of our compendium, through to tab 11.  There are a series of decisions involving Tribute, and what you will see in the side-barred portions of those decisions is the Superior Court saying, with regularity -- and you will recall, or you may be aware, that Tribute concerned a gas storage lease, and at issue was the proper interpretation of that lease.

And there was a suggestion or an issue raised whether or not the Board had jurisdiction, particularly having regard to the Court of Appeal's decision in a decision called Snopko and Union Gas, which I have some familiarity with.  But that was a decision in which the Court of Appeal said that section 38 of the Ontario Energy Board act gave the Board broad, exclusive jurisdiction over both designating an area as a storage area and determining the issue of compensation specifically under section 38(2).

It reached a different conclusion with respect to Tribute, and concluded that the Court had jurisdiction to interpret the contracts at issue and that the matter was not within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Board, because the Board had not made an order designating the proposed storage areas under the act.  And you can see that by way of example at page 5 of tab 8.

The leading case on the point is Garland, and that's at tab 11.  And Garland is instructive, in my submission, for several reasons.  I mean, obviously, it's a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada, so it is significant from that perspective alone.  But it is worth bearing in mind what was at issue in Garland, which was the application of a Board-approved late-payment penalty.

And so you had a situation where the Board itself had exercised its jurisdiction in setting the appropriate late payment penalty, and that was important because the late payment penalty in that case goes to reduce rates from what they otherwise would be.  If you didn't have a payment penalty, then there would be a bad debt charge and rates would be higher.

And, of course, the Board sets the late payment penalty.  That has an impact on revenue requirement, and rates are lower.

That was the context.  One of the defences that was obviously raised was -- I believe it is section 23 of the act.

But in any event, what the Supreme Court of Canada ultimately decided was that the Board does not have exclusive jurisdiction over this dispute.  And you can see it at paragraph 70 of the decision, on page 20.  And what the Board said -- what the Supreme Court of Canada said is:
"McMurtry, Chief Justice of Ontario, was also correct in his holding that the Ontario Energy Board does not have exclusive jurisdiction over this dispute.  While the dispute does involve rate orders, at its heart it is a private law matter under the competence of civil courts and, consequently, the Board does not have jurisdiction to order the remedy sought by the appellant."

And the remedy there, of course, was a monetary remedy.

And in my submission, that reasoning applies four‑square to the facts at issue here.

And I would draw a further parallel to the Garland decision, and it is one of the reasons why I agree with Mr. Mondrow's submission about two things in particular.

One, the ability of the Board to address the issue of obligated deliveries prospectively, and what the appropriate policy would be.

And I also agree that, if the -- I agree the Board shouldn't say anything about that today.  But I further agree that, if it is raised at some future time, it is an issue on which a number of stakeholders will have an interest.  Because I don't think we can lose sight of the fact that, ultimately, obligated deliveries -- the effect of obligated deliveries is to reduce the size of Union's system.  So, what it would otherwise be.

And here you have obligated deliveries at dawn.  Those deliveries come in above ground, and so you need less storage deliverability.  So Union's system doesn't have to have more storage deliverability on design day to get the gas out and move it along its system.

And if you had a larger system, then it could be the situation that people would have to pay different rates for that system.  And that's no different than the Parkway delivery obligation, which the Board dealt with and the parties reached a settlement.

So I am simply observing that there are consultations, there are discussions.  Who knows where they will go.  But there are obviously going to be more than just TransAlta, APPrO, and IGUA which would appropriately be at the table, because it could be that other customers are affected by whatever it is that the parties want to talk about, and that will have to take place.

So that's the Garland decision, which, in my submission, is dispositive of this issue of damages, and I agree entirely with -- well, I will come to it in a minute.

So let's see what the Board itself has done.  And if you turn to tab 12 of my submission, this is the -- of the compendium, this is the NRG proceeding that I alluded to earlier, EB-2010-0018.

What you will see, if you turn over the page to page 2, there was an issue that arose between Integrated Grain Processors Cooperative, IGPC, and NRG with respect to the construction costs of the pipeline built by NRG to serve the customers' ethanol plant.  And you can see that set out in the paragraph that begins "in addition".

And then the question was whether the Board could make a decision in relation essentially to the interpretation of the contract and the amount that might be owing under the contract.

And what you will see at page 12, if I can ask you to turn over -- sorry.  I should say, before we come to that, page 11, there was a funny clause in the agreement under the heading -- you will see "article 9, dispute resolution", at the bottom of page 11 of the Board's decision.  The parties had purported to give the Board jurisdiction over any dispute that might arise, although the Board itself had not been made aware of this provision in the contract.

At page 12 of the decision what you will see is Board Staff's submission.  And what Board Staff says, part-way through the paragraph:

"The Board has no legislative authority to act as an arbitrator for contractual disputes, and no provision in a contract such as article 9 to the PCRA..."
which was the contract,
"...can give the Board such a power.  To a certain degree the Board has already acted to resolve this dispute by determining the appropriate costs of the pipeline for rate-making purposes.  However, the Board has no further statutory powers to resolve the remaining issues concerning the total costs of the pipeline.  Board Staff, therefore, submitted that the Board should decline the invitation to act as an arbitrator."

And then if you go down two paragraphs, you will see IGPC's submission, and in my submission, it is well worth taking a close read of these submissions because, in many ways, they're similar to what you are hearing from TransAlta today.

First, there's a reference to the Board having broad powers, to the fact that a utility cannot escape regulatory oversight and charge rates that are not just and reasonable.

Then you have a reference at the next page to Part 7 of the OEB act, which is not this case, and was not that case either.

There's then further a submission about discrimination, as it permits consumers who do not pay a construction in aid of construction to be able to review all capital expenditures, and those that have agreed, those can't be reviewed.

Then at the bottom you have NRG's submissions.  They refer to Garland and the passages that I have taken you to.

And then you have the Board's findings over at page 14 and 15, and what you have there is the Board agreeing substantially with Board Staff's submissions, which is why I went to the trouble of pointing out Board Staff's submissions.

And then it goes on to say:

"The Board has no legislative authority to act as an arbitrator for contractual disputes, and no provision in a contract can give the Board such a power."

And then it continues:

"IGPC is seeking a refund.  The issue between IGPC and NRG is essentially a contractual dispute between two private entities.  The Board does not have jurisdiction to consider or remedy contractual disputes."

So that is what the Board said in that case.

So where does that take us?  Well, that takes us then to the submissions that were made by Ms. DeMarco in relation to the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review decision and how the Board has exercised jurisdiction over the issue of daily contract quantities for some time.

And by way of overarching submission I say simply, in relation to that, on a careful read of the decisions they're entirely supportive of Union's position.

What they reflect is the Board expressing the view that it does have the authority to address the issue of obligated deliveries on a prospective basis, and nowhere does the Board say that it has the jurisdiction specifically to interpret and then award damages.

So the Natural Gas Electricity Interface review decision itself is found at tab 4 of my friend's book of authorities.  And what you see there is an excerpt from the decision.  Now, you will recall that the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review decision considered a couple of items.  One was rates for power generators and the other was storage.

If you look at Appendix E -- it is a few pages in -- you have -- or Appendix F -- this is a settlement proposal.  And what you have there is the settlement agreement that was reached by the parties in the context of the NGEIR decision, and just a couple of things to observe.

If you look at page 5 of the settlement agreement, Schedule F, this lists the parties who participated in the settlement conference.  And if you look over on page 6, TransAlta was a participant in the settlement conference.

And then you will see over on the next page, page 8, the agreement results in changes to the T1 and U7 rate schedules.

And then what you see is -- and this is important, I think, for context -- on page 17 -- and I did refer to this earlier, page 16 -- "new T1 firm billing contract demand levels".

And then the parties reach a deal with respect to those.  And then you will see, over on page 17, the parties reach a decision with respect to delivery obligations.

And what the parties agree to is delivery obligations which are different, depending on whether you are west of Dawn and a new customer, or you have new incremental loads, and customers east of Dawn.  And that's as far as it goes, except for this.  That is then carried forward by Union, and you will have seen the rate schedules at tab -- the rate schedule I took you to at tabs -- I think it is 17 or 18 of my compendium and the reference to the policy.

And nowhere in the NGEIR decision does the Board say that it has jurisdiction to award damages, and it has never done so, that I am aware of, in this context.

And it is important to bear in mind, when you look at these provisions and listen to my friend's submission, that what this really comes down to is, yes, there is a contractual dispute.  But what my friend is really asking for is a change to the policy that came out of NGEIR and a change to whether or not there ought to be obligated deliveries.  And, you know, that's fair that's a fair enough question.

But it's not -- posing that question cannot give you or bootstrap-in the jurisdiction to then award damages over a historic dispute.  And that, I think, is a very important distinction to bear in mind.

My friend also refers to a decision of the Board in EB-2007-0724 involving Enbridge and Union Gas, which involved natural gas storage allocation policies.  And again, over at page 34, is the side-barred portion and, in my submission, this provision does not assist my friend at all.  If anything, it simply confirms Union's view of the Board's jurisdiction on a prospective basis.

And, of course, it is important to bear in mind what was at issue here.  What was at issue was access to cost‑based storage and how much cost-based storage, which is obviously subject to a rate by the Board, how much cost‑based storage customers should be entitled to.

And the Board said -- the Board ultimately determined that it was not going to change any of the terms of the contract.  But it said we may have to, if the terms of those contracts result in rates which are not just and reasonable.  And nobody quarrels with that decision by the Board.

The next decision that my friend refers to is at tab 6 of her book of authorities.  And this is a decision on tariffs.  And the decision followed on the Board's establishment of STAR.

If you turn over the page -- turn over the tab, I'm sorry -- you will actually see the storage and transportation access rule set out there.  And one of the things I understand my friend to be saying is that the Board has jurisdiction in relation to these matters because of STAR.

And I have two submissions in relation to that.  The first is, I don't see how anything in STAR entitles the Board or gives the Board jurisdiction to award damages.  And certainly nothing in STAR relates to a daily contract quantity of demand.  It is just not dealt with at all.

But the more fundamental point is that STAR has no application to this dispute in any respect.

And what you will see, if you look at STAR -- I'm sorry.  Did I give you the wrong reference?  I gave you the reference to tab 7.  I'm sorry.  That is the natural gas market review.

Tab 3.  What you will see when you look at STAR, the storage and transportation access rule, is that, as the name implies, it deals with the issue of, as it says, bottom of the page, III, "Purpose of this rule."  It's a few pages in.  And it says that:
"This rule outlines conduct and reporting requirements for natural gas transmitters, integrated utilities, and storage companies.  The purpose of this rule is to --"

And then it is:
"(1) Establish operating requirements to ensure open and non-discriminatory access to transportation services for shippers and storage companies."

And I say three things in relation to this.  This isn't a question of discriminatory access.  The policy that my friend complains about is a Board-approved policy that came out of the NGEIR decision.

But, more fundamentally -- I guess at its highest it could be called differential treatment.  But, more fundamentally, this is not a transportation service for shippers and storage companies.

And so if you look over at page V, you will see the definition of shippers means:
"The holder of the transportation and/or storage contract."

And then the definition of tariff:
"Tariff means, for each transportation service, a transmitter's standard terms of service, a transmitter's allocation methods, and a transmitter's rate schedule and/or rate handbook."

And then if you look over at the page VII, what you will see is "Non-discriminatory access to transportation services," and this is where the confusion that sometimes arises when the word transportation is used is made clear.

But you will see under 2.1(1):
"A transmitter's methods for allocating transportation capacity shall be defined in its tariff."

And then, next paragraph:
"Firm transportation service that becomes available as a result of a facility expansion."

So it is apparent -- and you can go through the balance of STAR, but it's apparent when you look at STAR that, when STAR is talking about transportation, what it is talking about is gas transmission.  And, obviously, gas transmission is a separate activity from gas distribution.  And STAR has no application to gas distribution.

And then I had taken you earlier to tab 6 of my friend's book of authorities, but this is a decision that my friend points to concerning STAR.  And, in my submission, it is actually helpful to Union here, because following on STAR, Union had to bring forward its tariff.

And what you will see is what Union brought forward for approval and what the Board ultimately approved are tariffs in relation to the M12, C1 and M12 transportation services -- sorry, M16 transportation services.  And those are the only transportation services or transmission rates that Union has, and obviously not referred to there is distribution or the T1 rate service.

And in any event -- distribution service.  And in any event, nothing in this decision, even in relation to those services, addresses the question of damages.

Lastly, my friend referred to the Summitt Energy management case -- or management case, and I won't belabour this.  I think you have our submission on the point.  This is not a compliance matter.  Summitt is fundamentally different, and I don't understand my friend to be pushing the point.

This is not a section 112 issue.  There is nothing in here that departs from the Board's general limitation on its ability to order damages.

And the other sort of distinguishing feature here, in Summitt there was an issue in respect of the amount of money that had been collected by the gas marketer, as I understand it.  That's not our case.

Union does not have -- that's why it is important to appreciate this, and I dealt with it earlier -- Union does not -- or Union does not receive money from TransAlta when TransAlta buys gas.  It's its own procurer of gas, and so there isn't an issue in that respect.

So I expect Ms. Helt will deal with this case, as she had some considerable familiarity with it, but in our submission, Summitt Energy has no application at all.

Let me turn to my friend's third submission, so you have our point on the first two questions.  My friend's third point on jurisdiction to order arbitration, very briefly, if STAR doesn't apply, the Board has no jurisdiction to order anybody to engage in arbitration.  Nothing in STAR would give it that jurisdiction in any event.

And I would say that my friend's reference or reliance on Rule 29 is misplaced.  That -- I agree entirely with the question.  Rule 29 obviously allows the Board to order the parties to engage in settlement conferences in relation to matters over which the Board already has jurisdiction, a section which sets out rules and practice and procedure can only be made based upon the jurisdiction that the Board has already, and if the Board does not have jurisdiction to order damages or to compel parties to arbitrate, nothing in the Rules of Practice and Procedure, no matter how broadly worded, can give it that jurisdiction.

So I don't think that rule 29 assists my friend at all, and you have my submission that STAR does not apply.

And I would just say in relation to STAR, there's no question that STAR applies to Union.  STAR applies to Union in relation to its storage activities, and STAR applies to Union in relation to its transmission activities.

The problem TransAlta has with its submission is that it's not complaining about either one of those items.  It's complaining about its daily contract quantity and distribution service under the contract.  And the mere fact that STAR applies in different contexts, in different ways, is not a basis for the Board to assume jurisdiction in the way TransAlta would like it to.

Lastly, just on the preliminary -- or not preliminary.  On the additional claim for relief.  You have our submission at page 2 of our submission beginning at paragraph 5.  Essentially, there is no live dispute between the parties, and it would be inappropriate, in my submission, for the Board to make any order which either presupposes what the outcome of that would be, or even the nature of the question, or even who ought to be a party to that proceeding.

It's true that there are ongoing consultations with respect to obligated deliveries, and they arise for the reason my friend articulated.  In a very cold winter when Union requires customers to meet their obligation for system integrity needs that may have a differential impact on some customers than others, and that is the subject of consultation.

And it will either be brought forward by Union at some appropriate time, or it will be brought forward by a customer at some appropriate time, and I don't know what Union's position will be, because nobody sitting here today knows how those discussions will evolve.

The one thing I would say, obviously, is that Union is operating within an incentive regulation mechanism framework, and whatever is done will have to have regard to the parameters of the IRM agreement that was agreed to by the parties and ultimately approved by the Board.  I just don't know what that will ultimately look like sitting here today.

So subject to any questions, those are our submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  I don't think the Panel has any questions.

Ms. Helt, would you like to proceed now?
Submissions by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair and Member Hare.

As indicated previously, Board Staff has read the submission that has been filed by Union and supports the submissions made by Mr. Smith today.

I won't go through each of the points in detail, as Mr. Smith has already covered them, but I will go through them briefly and indicate what our position is.

Really, the first two questions that are set out in Procedural Order No. 1 and are at issue today are the two questions that were posed by TransAlta.  And in Staff's submission they need to be read together with respect to whether or not the Board does have jurisdiction to interpret the daily contract quantity Obligations and, if it does have that jurisdiction, whether or not the Board can order a remedy for the amounts that TransAlta says are allegedly owing to it.

In Staff's submission, and as set out by Union's counsel, this is really a contractual dispute between TransAlta and Union.  And even though the Board may have jurisdiction to hear contractual disputes in certain instances, it's not an exclusive jurisdiction with respect to this particular issue.

The jurisdiction to decide upon these types of contractual disputes has held -- has been held by this Board to be available and confirmed to be one where parties can go to the courts to seek a remedy.

This was set out in the Tribute case, which Mr. Smith has referred to, and it has also been set out in the Garland case.

Board Staff also notes that the Board has, in its view, never awarded financial damages associated with disputes arising from private, commercial contracts.

And just, I think it is worthwhile to reference the Garland decision again that was referred to previously.  The issue before the Supreme Court in that particular case related to a claim by customers of a regulated utility for restitution for unjust enrichment arising from late-payment penalties levied by Consumer (sic) Gas in excess of the interest limit prescribed by section 347 of the Criminal Code.

Consumers Gas billed its customers on a monthly basis, and each bill included a due date for the payment of current charges.  Customers who did not pay by the due date incurred this late-payment penalty, which was calculated at 5 percent of the unpaid charges for that month.  And so the LPP was a one-time penalty that was imposed by Garland.

Chief Justice McMurtry of the Ontario Court of Appeal noted that the restitutionary issue arising from the receipt of LPPs, late-payment penalties, by consumers was an issue over which the courts have jurisdiction.

He further added that the Board's jurisdiction to fix rates for gas and to set penalties for late payment does not empower it to impose a restitutionary order of the type sought by the plaintiff.

Justice Iacobucci, writing for a majority of the Supreme Court, adopted the findings of the Court of Appeal and noted that, although the dispute involved rate orders -- and this was a point that Mr. Smith stated, as well -- the issue here was a private law matter suited to civil courts and the Board did not have jurisdiction to order the remedy sought by the plaintiff.

So in Staff's submission, in this particular instance, the remedy that is being sought by TransAlta with respect to an award of damages is one that is more appropriately sought in the courts, as opposed to the Board in this instance.

Further, on that particular point, the applicant TransAlta has made reference to the Summitt case, and there's been some discussion of that particular case already today.  And while she is not putting it forward forcefully, she did indicate that, by analogy, it may be an appropriate consideration for this panel.

Summitt was a very different case.  It was a case dealing with alleged salesperson misconduct and their conduct at the door when they were trying to sell various gas or electricity contracts to consumers.

The Board, on its own motion, issued a Notice of Compliance under section 112(3) of the act, and the Board sought, with respect to its order for compliance, an order that would allow the Board to not only prevent the compliance, but remedy any non-compliance that had already occurred.

So that was at issue with respect to whether or not the Board had jurisdiction to award a restitutionary -- make a restitutionary order.

The question was whether or not, in looking at what that compliance order was and the ability to remedy any non-compliance that had occurred, would allow the Board to make an order for restitution.

The Board ultimately found that the particular section of one 112(3) ought to be considered in a liberal manner, specifically because it was with respect to ensuring -- or protecting the interests of consumers.

There was reference to certain Supreme Court of Canada decisions, Royal Oak Mines was one of them, which said that these particular provisions, dealing with compliance, need to be given a broad interpretation.

And, on that basis, the Court determined it did have the ability to make an order for restitution, as that would be remedying the non-compliance that had occurred.

So in Staff's submission today, the request by TransAlta and the request for restitution is very different than what was set forward before the Board in the Summitt case.

In addition, with respect to Summitt -- and this was also a point that has been raised, the Board is a creature of statute and the Board doesn't have any inherent powers, only those that are conferred by statute.

So the order for restitution in Summitt was one that was conferred by statute, and the question was -- before the panel was one of an interpretation of how broad that power was under one 112(3).

Again, that is very different, in Staff's submission, from the request being made today by TransAlta seeking to have an award of financial damages which is based on a private contractual dispute, in Staff's submission.

With respect to the third point that was set out in the procedural order, whether or not there is an ability for this Board to order the parties to binding arbitration, in Staff's submission, there is no such ability.

This is not a matter where STAR applies.  This is not a storage and transportation issue.  It is a distribution contract that is before you.  And the provisions of STAR, in the name alone -- Storage Transportation and Access Rule -- reflect that it does not deal with matters concerning distribution.

Just to highlight:  STAR came into effect in June of 2010 and it is intended -- and in the opening paragraphs of the document, it states that:
"It is intended to provide for reporting requirements for all storage providers, as well as ensuring that there is non-discriminatory access provided to those storage providers."

So STAR is something that is not, in Staff's submission, related to the issue at hand before the Board, which is really a contractual dispute, and what does daily contract quantity mean.  And, in Staff's submission, that has nothing to do with STAR.

With respect to the last question that has been raised in the letter filed by TransAlta, the Relief Amendment Request, the Board, or Board Staff, takes the position, with respect to this issue, that it is not possible for this panel, nor would it be appropriate for this panel, to bind the Board with a statement that it will conduct a future proceeding on a particular matter which is currently the subject matter of ongoing consultations with Union.

And further, as noted by both TransAlta and Union, there is the natural gas market review where this issue also may or may not be resolved.

It's not clear.  So in Staff's submission, the request for this panel to do something about this particular issue is premature at this time.

If it be the case that it is not resolved through the Union consultation, nor through the natural gas market review, then TransAlta and other parties -- as Mr. Mondrow has indicated, other parties may want to have notice of any particular proceedings -- can be given appropriate notice, appropriate issues can be determined for the Board to adjudicate indicate upon, and then that proceeding could commence.

But at this time, in Staff's submission, it would be premature and inappropriate for the Board to take any further steps with respect to determining the issues at hand.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have no further submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.

Ms. DeMarco, we assume that you might like to have some time to prepare your reply, so we suggest we take a lunch break now and then we will come back in an hour.  Will an hour be sufficient?

MS. DeMARCO:  That would be greatly appreciated.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  We will come back in an hour to hear from TransAlta.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:20 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Please be seated.  All right.  Are there any preliminary matters before we continue on?  All right.  In that case, Ms. DeMarco.
Reply Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have attempted to organize my submissions into three main categories of reply, but will ask for your indulgence so that I might play catch-up on any issues that I have not addressed appropriately or fully in those three categories.

Effectively, there are and were a number of inaccuracies that have arisen in relation to the submissions of my friends, and we have attempted to organize our submissions to address each classification of those sequentially, really to get at some misperceptions, some inaccuracies, and some errors that would have been said to date.

Those three categories are as follows:  First, parties, including IGUA, Union, and Board Staff, all stated views to the effect that this is not a storage issue, and this is strictly a distribution issue or an obligated DCQ issue as it pertains to that term of the T1/T2 contract.  It's TransAlta's strong view that this is clearly not the case, and neither the application nor the contract supports that view.

Secondly, there appears to be an erroneous perception that the Board's jurisdiction under each and any of the three preliminary issues and the fourth additional request for relief is conflated.  That is, you can't determine one in the affirmative without determining the other three in the affirmative.  And clearly, it's TransAlta's submission that this is not the case.

The Board's jurisdiction under each and all of, number one, its ability to interpret the appropriate terms and conditions of the T1/T2 contract; number two, its ability to award damages; number 3, its ability to mandate alternate dispute resolution; and number four, its ability to facilitate resolution of the broader sector-wide issue in another proceeding, are each and all independent of each other and must be determined by the Board in a manner that is independent of each other.

And the last category of our submissions relates to a number of assertions made by Mr. Mondrow, first as adopted by Union -- or as restated by Union and Ms. Helt that these preliminary issues are not ripe for determination or do not require determination by the Board at this time, and specifically, it's TransAlta's view that that position is akin to putting TransAlta in a position of a Dickens novel, specifically Bleak House, where we don't have an appropriate forum for resolution of this issue that has come before the Board now for the third time, and we're now sitting before this Board again for the third time at its direction in relation to the prior position of TransAlta in the 0154 matter.

So if I might go into each of those submissions sequentially.  Let me start with the first, and those were variations to the theme that this is not a storage issue.

If I can refer you very specifically to TransAlta's application -- that is, the December 3rd letter -- at page 2 of that letter, at the bottom of the page, under section (b), and this fact appears to be lost on a number of my friends.

It states that:

"Historically Union rarely sought delivery of the DCQ amount listed in the T1/T2 contract and proceeded by way of implied waiver until the winter of 2014.  From January 4th to 9th, 2014 and commencing again on January 18th, 2014, Union demanded that TransAlta deliver the listed 17,904 gJs per day.  Secondly..."

And I would like to extremely emphasize this point, because the connection was not made, and I will take any and all blame for not having emphasized that in the first place.
"Secondly, Union refused to allow TransAlta to satisfy that demand with gas that it had in storage.  Thirdly, it restricted TransAlta from selling gas to anyone other than in-franchise customers."

It's very clear, in TransAlta's view, that this is absolutely a storage issue.  Not only that, these restrictions in relation to its access and use of its storage coincided with the onset of exceptionally high gas prices and resulted in significant damage, financial damage, to TransAlta.

So to emphasize the point, the obligated DCQ interpretation resulted in a restriction of TransAlta's access to its storage and a further restriction to the use of its gas for sale to anyone else other than in-franchise customers.

If this type of restriction is not exactly what the Board intended the Storage and Transmission Access Rule to remedy, I don't know what is.

Moving on from the specific application, I will take you to the contract itself.  And specifically, Ms. Helt indicated that this is a distribution contract.  Let me be very clear.  I am at tab 2 of my friend's materials, my friend's compendium of materials.

First and foremost, the title of the contract is "this gas storage and distribution contract".  Clearly, this is a gas storage contract.

Section 1 specifically incorporates, by reference, the general terms and conditions which, again, pertain to gas storage.  Moreover, sections 4 and 5 of the beginning of the contract, the beginning portion of the contract, pertain to related storage services and distribution services.

Similarly, the rates -- as set out in section 5 -- pertain to storage-related rates, and certainly by way of contention, TransAlta takes great exception to the suggestion by Mr. Crawford that there was no rate implication related to its actions and the mandated delivery of obligated DCQ quantities, the restricted storage, use of its storage capability, and similarly the restricted resale of its own gas.

Moving on in the contract to schedule 2, terms and conditions.  Section 2 relates very specifically to delivery, receipt, distribution, storage, and balancing obligations.  2.04 relates quite specifically to storage space.  Section 6 relates expressly to storage services.  And last, but certainly not least, the definitions, again, apply to -- and the general terms and conditions apply to related storage services.

So it is with respect that TransAlta submits that this is equally a storage contract, and to interpret it as strictly a distribution contract would put TransAlta in the position of being a storage customer, governed by a T1/T2 combined storage and transportation services contract, without access to or remedy from any or all of the protections provided by the Storage and Transmission Access Rule.  Effectively, this would be creating a class of customer without protection.

That also relates to our initial submissions, which I will not repeat, that the STAR clearly applies.  Certainly the definitions support that it applies to integrated utilities, and storage services must be granted and provided on a non-discriminatory basis.

If this was a straight contractual issue relating simply to the definition of one term of a contract, obligated DCQ, and specifically the definition of obligated DCQ under the T1/T2 contract, it may very well be conducive to simple determination by a court of law.

But TransAlta submits that the varying positions of all of the parties here today highlight the complexity of this issue.  Very specifically, the varying degrees to which Mr. Mondrow indicated that this was in fact a policy issue implementing or affecting a contractual issue, the positions of the parties who made submissions clearly indicating that this was a complex policy issue that required determination, and the varying differences and approaches relating to how the decade's worth of Board policy determinations shape the interpretation of the contract, do not, in our submission, make the interpretation of this issue, i.e. make the interpretation of the obligated DCQ requirements restricting TransAlta's access to storage, restricting TransAlta's resale of its gas, conducive to a simple contractual determination.

In fact, the divergence of positions here clearly indicates that there is a mix of very serious and long‑standing Board policy issues with contractual issues, and it's our submission that any Court would find it very difficult to appropriately determine, understand, and apply the Board's lengthy, ten-year-long jurisprudence in this nature in relation to the correct interpretation of the contract on this matter.

Moving on to our second issue.  There were a number of submissions that clearly indicated that, unless the Board is to find positively in relation to its jurisdiction to award damages on the contract, then it cannot find positively in relation to its jurisdiction to interpret the contract, to provide for alternative dispute resolution, and/or to provide for a future forum for the resolution of this matter.

Certainly, it's our submission that that is not the case.  The Board must evaluate and assess its jurisdiction under the contractual interpretation, damages, ADR, alternate dispute resolution, and an alternate forum, separately and distinct from each other.

Certainly, it is very possible that the Board may decide that it does not have jurisdiction to award damages on this specific matter.  Nonetheless, there is no restriction in the Board finding that it does, in fact, have the jurisdiction to hear the complex policy and contractual issues, giving rise to the obligated DCQ issue and the restriction in access to storage.

It also may find that, despite the fact that it determines it does not have jurisdiction to assess and award damages in this matter, that it does, in fact, clearly under Rule 29.01 and in relation to the STAR, have jurisdiction to order alternate dispute resolution.

And finally, as the Board has done in many other proceedings, the Board may find that it does in fact have jurisdiction to determine that there is a ripe issue in this matter that may be, or must be, heard in another matter going forward.

In fact, that was the case with the NGEIR.  The Board that heard -- the panel that heard the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review did, in fact, mandate storage allocation policies be determined through another proceeding; did, in fact, determine that the Storage and Allocation Rule be developed and heard; and did, in fact, determine eventually that the M12, M16 and C1 contracts be heard.

So it is our strong submission that the Board has the jurisdiction, even if it finds that it does not have jurisdiction in relation to the calculation of damages, to proceed by any way and any one of the other three elements of jurisdiction that are before it now.

Finally, our last tranche of submissions, which I will affectionately call the Bleak House submissions, relate to, quite frankly, the procedural fairness challenges that TransAlta will incur if the Board does not make a determination in this proceeding that allows for this issue to be resolved.

Specifically, the obligated DCQ issues did in fact arise as early as 2005 in the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review.  They were much more recently revisited in the natural gas market review by APPrO and, contrary to Ms. Helt's submissions, they were not resolved in that matter.

The March 31st determination of the -- recommendation of Board Staff, as adopted by the Board, did not make any determination in relation to the obligated DCQ issues, despite them being put fully and fairly before the Board in that matter.

Similarly, in relation to TransAlta's motion in the Union penalties case, the Board decided that that proceeding was not the appropriate proceeding for it to have this important, relevant, and pressing issue heard, but rather encouraged the formulation of a complaint or another proceeding to come before this Board to determine specifically that issue.

This complaint in the instant matter was formulated on the basis of that direction of the Board.

Quite frankly, I find it particularly challenging and would, if I were in TransAlta's shoes, to hear submissions to the effect of:   The issue is not ripe; It is not necessary for the Board to determine it now; It can wait for some yet-to-be-determined proceeding at some yet-to-be-determined time in some yet-to-be-determined forum to be heard fully and fairly.

In many instances, this feels precisely like TransAlta is inside a Dickens novel, attempting to find a forum of convenience or a forum that will be seized of the issues that clearly are relevant, pressing, and urgent to its ongoing commercial operation, particularly as it approaches yet another 2015/2016 winter season, where the issue has not been addressed and it faces similar instances of additional harm and penalty as a result of its differential DCQ obligations.

That is the end of my formal submissions.  And prior to me playing clean-up, are there any associated questions in relation to that?
Questions by the Board:

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Ms. DeMarco, I am just -- I am looking at the storage and transportation access rule, and I am trying to understand exactly how you say it applies to TransAlta's relationship with Union.

I assume that, when it says in 1.5, "to whom this rule applies", that Union would be considered to be the integrated utility and/or the storage company and/or the natural gas transmitter that's legally permitted to do business in Ontario.

But I am trying to work out where in this rule -- and I have to admit that I haven't looked at it in detail for some time -- where in this rule the services that TransAlta has under its contract with Union would be referenced or how those services would fit into this rule.
Further Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  I think there are several grounds, but first and foremost it relates in relation to section 1.1, the purpose of the rule.  1.1.1(iii) indicates that the purpose of the rule is to ensure customer protection within the competitive storage market.  And 1.1.1(i) indicates that the purpose of the rule is also to establish operating requirements to ensure open and non-discriminatory access to transportation services for shippers and storage companies.

MS. SPOEL:  And which -- is TransAlta a shipper or a storage company?

MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly it may be a shipper, and it is in relation to the specific definition of an integrated utility, so which Union is and Union has freely admitted that it is in relation to storage and transportation services.

And secondly, the specific definitions related to a natural gas transmitter, a gas transmitter, natural gas transportation system, all of which include related distribution system used to provide gas transportation services.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  No, I understand that.  I don't think there is any dispute that this rule applies to Union. What I am trying to -- when you referred to customer protection within the competitive storage market, I am assuming that the customer in this case would be TransAlta.  Union is not the customer.  TransAlta would be the customer.

But I am trying to work out which aspect of the competitive storage market or other services to which -- for which this rule is designed, which of those services TransAlta is accessing from Union in order to be able to take advantage of the provisions in this rule.

And it's just, I am not saying it is not there, I just haven't quite worked out where you say TransAlta fits into it.  I am not challenging; I'm asking.

MS. DeMARCO:  So there are a few provisions, specifically in relation to related transportation capacity, which by definition would include the related distribution capacity in a bundled storage contract.  So that is why I took you to the definitions in relation to natural gas.  Transportation system and natural gas transportation services, which, both reference distribution.

And then secondly, in relation to -- so that would be covered by, quite specifically, section 2.1.  And then 2.3, which governs the form of contracts, including an ADR provision.  Section 3 may pertain in 3.1.3 to ensuring that the integrated utility -- in this case Union -- has and maintains protocols to limit access to non-public transportation in forming concerns for future facility expansions or timing of upcoming transportation over seasons and transportation operating conditions of shippers, storage companies, and consumers.

And then finally, in relation to the complaint mechanism, TransAlta would expressly submit that TransAlta -- sorry, Union was required to have and to implement a related complaint mechanism that facilitated dispute resolution.

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I wonder -- it arises from my friend's first submission and also in answer to your question, but I wonder if I might have a brief opportunity to address the question, because the sections my friend now refers to were not referred to in her argument, and I can be very brief in addressing it, but I do have a response to it.

MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I might respond on his request?

MS. SPOEL:  Well, I think, Ms. DeMarco, I asked a question, and so I am interested in getting as much information as possible about how this does or doesn't apply.  So I think I am inclined to let Mr. Smith respond, and you can have an additional reply to that response if you have anything additional to add.

This was a question from the Panel, so I think the sort of normal rules about responding to things may not apply quite the same way, because I have taken it down a slightly different path.

So I would rather hear all the arguments now than go away and sit there scratching my head, wondering how it all fits together, when we have a decision to write.

So I would rather get it all out right now, if you don't mind.
Further Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be very brief.  Fundamentally I disagree with TransAlta's position on this, and I think the answer to it can be found at the very first page of STAR, because this was kicked off, obviously, by the Natural Gas Electricity Interface decision, and then the Board issued the STAR process and passed the rule under its power under section 44 of the act to issue rules.

And what is interesting is, if you look at the very first page, the Board says in the notice that it is required to issue under the Act -- in a letter dated March 5, 2008 the Board stated that:

"A), STAR would address the following:  Operating requirements to ensure that Union Gas Limited and Enbridge Gas Distribution cannot discriminate in favour of their own storage operations or those of their affiliates and cannot discriminate to the detriment of third-party storage providers."

That is extremely important, because you will remember what was at issue in NGEIR was whether or not the Board ought to refrain from regulating storage.

So the issue was the development -- how do you foster the development of a competitive storage market, which is why you see those provisions later under the purpose section, being the development of the competitive storage market.

And the Board was concerned that, as embedded storage operators who operate a transmission system, Union and Enbridge would have the ability to effectively -- for lack of a better word -- land-lock other storage providers who would not be able to have transmission capacity, that other customers could then get access, and so Union could use its transmission facility to block people out, effectively.  That was the Board's concern, and concern with STAR.

And it is important when you look at STAR that you bear that in mind, which is why I say when you look at the purpose provisions what you get is "establish operating requirements to ensure open and non-discriminatory access to transportation services for shippers and storage companies", and then 3, "ensure customer protection within the competitive storage market".

And then when you go on and you see the real guts of the rule under section 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, and 2.4, what you see there are requirements in relation to making transportation capacity available and what rules apply if you're dealing with an embedded storage company or not.

And the basic rules are the rules that Union always follows when it is doing a new capacity build, and it does an open season and people bid in and they enter into precedent agreements and they enter into M12 contracts.

It will be important for you to look at those sections, because when you look at those sections, for example, 2.1.1, "a transmitter's method for allocating transportation capacity shall be defined in its tariff"; 2.2.1, "a transmitter shall ensure that the following requirements are met when conducting open seasons"; 2.3, "that requirements in section 2.3 apply to a transmitter that provides transportation services for a shipper and does not include transportation services in section 2.4"; and then 2.4 is the section that deals with transportation being provided to an embedded storage operator.

So those are -- that's the guts of the rule and what it is really about.  And fundamentally I disagree that -- and this is why I spent some time on it -- that TransAlta is a shipper.

It is not a shipper, because it does not have a transportation contract.  It has a distribution contract.  It does not take service under M12, M12X, M16, or C1, which are the transmission rates that Union has and the tariffs which were approved by the Board in the decision that I took you to.

It does -- it does take cost-based storage from Union, but it is not a competitive, embedded storage operator, which is what this rule is addressed at.

So that's why I say STAR has no applicability.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Ms. DeMarco, do you want to respond to any of that?
Further Reply Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  I do, if I might.  And it relates to confusion, I think, that many of us in the marketplace have when we first read or read the STAR.  And that's the use of "transportation" in lieu of the classic terms that we're used to, being distribution or transmission.

But, clearly, the STAR uses the term "natural gas transportation services" -- and I am pointing to the definitions in section 1.2 -- and the Natural Gas Transportation System to expressly -- and I emphasize "expressly" -- include transmission or distribution system used to provide gas transportation services.

And if my friend's interpretation is correct, if there is an unduly restrictive interpretation of that provision, the outcome -- and, of course, we know that the outcome is relative to determining how the Board should proceed -- would be that customers like TransAlta would be in the position where they did, in fact, have storage services, contractual obligations in relation to storage, that were being restricted in a differentiated, discriminatory manner with zero remedy.

They are a storage customer.  They notionally should be covered by the STAR.  And if you take a restrictive -- instead of the liberal and purposive approach to interpretation of these definitions that we are suggesting that you take, there will be a lacuna in terms of the customer protection requirements that are clearly evident in the provisions that my friend read into the record.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Well, thank you.  Did you have something more you wanted to add?

MS. DeMARCO:  I just have to run and do clean-up, if that's all right.

MS. SPOEL:  I'm sorry.  I thought you had finished with the other issues before I asked the question.  Go ahead.  I don't want to cut you off.

MS. DeMARCO:  I will try and be very brief.

MS. SPOEL:  No, no, that's fine.

MS. DeMARCO:  And if I might just go through sequentially.

My friend Mr. Crawford stated, in relation to section 12.01(3) of the contract, that the definition of "daily contract quantity," which clearly refers to how that term is to be determined after the 12-month period of the contract has been exceeded, is an inconsistency.

It's our clear submission that that is not an inconsistency.  That is an intentional drafting of exactly, with formula, how that term is to be incorporated.  And that term is expressly incorporated by reference into all other terms, including the beginning portion of the contract, by reference through section 1.1 -- sorry, section 1(c) of the overriding cover letter, which my friend argues has the greatest precedence in relation to section 12.18 of the contract.

Similarly, my friend has argued that the governing law clause that indicates that the parties attorn to the jurisdiction of the courts of Ontario appears to be -- maybe I am reading his submissions wrong -- dispositive of the issue of whether or not alternate dispute resolution can be ordered.

In fact, it is our submission that that is not the case.  And clearly the overarching scheme of both the Board and the STAR contemplate ADR as being the preferable mechanism.  And we would argue that is precisely because of the complex, integrated policy and contractual nature of the issues now before the Board.

It is very difficult for a court of law, without your expertise and long-standing history, to determine such integrated issues.  And we are not saying that that's the case in relation to any and all commercial issues before the Board.

There were two cases raised by my friend as dispositive as to whether or not the Board had jurisdiction to review the contractual issues, as apart from whether or not the Board has jurisdiction to award damages.

Specifically, it is our submission that the Tribute case is entirely distinguishable.  Certainly, in the series of cases around Tribute Resources that Union relies upon, the courts were first seized with the matter between a private landowner and a private storage company.  And the landowner holding company was arguing that the courts had no jurisdiction to determine a matter that the Board was now seized with.

Clearly, that's not the case here.  The Board has been seized with the T1/T2 contractual issue for the better part of a decade, if not more, and we are not arguing that the courts are not seized with jurisdiction.

Similarly, in Garland, there are exceptions to how and when it will apply.  But nonetheless, we would rely on our submissions that, even if the Board finds that it does not have jurisdiction to award damages, it still has the attendant jurisdiction to interpret the very complex contractual issues that are integrated with the very complex policy issues.

There was some indication by my friend that the Board would be placing itself -- or that TransAlta was suggesting that the Board itself act as the arbitrator in relation to our third preliminary requested relief; i.e., if the Board determines negatively on either the first two issues, that the Board direct that it be the subject of mandatory and binding arbitration.

I want to make it clear, if I was not in the initial submissions, that the request is that the Board direct the matter be resolved by binding arbitration through an arbitrator, independent of the Board but with the requisite Ontario energy law expertise.

Last, but certainly not least, in relation to the issue of conflating the policy issues with the attendant contractual interpretation issues and the Board's independence to rule on any one of those issues separately and apart from each other, we would simply put forward to the Board that, in relation to this matter, we have some 240 pages of authorities put forward by Union, including significant historical past jurisprudence of the Board, and a further 174 pages of materials, including significant past historical jurisdiction -- jurisprudence of the Board, put before you today that, in our view, clearly indicates there is no doubt that this issue is both one of policy and contract that requires that initial expert determination prior to ultimate determination, either by the Board or some other entity, preferably arbitration directed by the Board.

So with that, absent any further questions of the Board...

MS. SPOEL:  No.  I don't think we have anything further, Ms. DeMarco.  Thank you.

And thank you to all the counsel for their useful submissions.  We will issue a decision in due course.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:10 p.m.
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